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DIRECTORS & OFFICERS 
Securities Class Action Case Dismissed As Ofering Materials Contained 
“Nonactionable Pufery” and Defendants Could Not Have Known Of COVID-19 Impact 

A California federal court dismissed a securities class action 
against defendant Velocity Financial, Inc., a real estate 
fnance company, for alleged false or materially misleading 
statements and/or omissions presented by Velocity in 
its January 2020 ofering materials as it went public. This 
included allegations that Velocity created a “rosy picture” of 
the market despite the fact that COVID-19 was set to disrupt 
the entire real estate market. 

Plaintif alleged violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the 
Securities Act of 1933, arising from “various statements in 
Velocity’s ofering materials” that were allegedly false or 
materially misleading. These included that Velocity allegedly: 
(1) falsely extoled its underwriting practices through its
use of “disciplined due diligence”; (2) misrepresented the
growth of its loan portfolio by failing to disclose that such
growth resulted from riskier short-term interest-free loans,
and that a signifcant portion of the portfolio had become
nonperforming; and (3) cited favorable market conditions
despite the risk of the growing COVID-19 pandemic. 

In ruling for Velocity, the court frst found that Velocity’s 
statements relating to its underwriting practice in its ofering 

materials were “non actionable pufery.” These included 
statements extolling Velocity’s application of “disciplined 
due diligence” and that its underwriting practices focused 
on “minimizing credit losses.” Second, the court found that 
Velocity had accurately disclosed its use of riskier short-term 
interest-free loans and any increase in non-performing loan 
growth. 

Finally, as for Velocity’s purported failure to disclose the 
potential efect of the COVID-19 pandemic on market 
conditions, the court held that Plaintif failed to allege how 
Velocity “would have known about the coronavirus risks at 
the time of the IPO to include a more specifc warning.”The 
court found that the Plaintif did not allege how Velocity 
“would or could have known the extent of the coronavirus 
pandemic, or even the presence of the disease in America, at 
the time of the IPO.”As such, there would have been no need 
for Velocity to include any disclosure about the pandemic in 
its ofering materials. 

Edward A. Berg v. Velocity Financial, Inc. et al., Case No. 20-cv-
06780 (C.D. Cal 2021). 
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INSURANCE COMPANY 
BI Coverage for COVID-19 Losses Under U.K. Policies 

In a landmark case regarding business interruption 
policies, the U.K. Supreme Court ruled on January 15, 
2021 that insurers must pay companies forced to close 
during the U.K.’s first COVID-19 related lock down.  This 
ruling in favor of the Financial Conduct Authority is 
estimated to affect around 370,000 policyholders with 
over 700 types of policies. 

In so ruling, the Supreme Court considered four 
common types of BI coverage: (1) disease clauses, (2) 
prevention of access clauses, (3) hybrid clauses, and (4) 
trends clauses. The Court stated there was coverage 
for policyholders under all of these clauses based on 
the Court’s finding of a causal link between COVID-19 
shutdowns and BI losses. 

Specifically, the Supreme Court’s ruling allows for 
policyholders with disease clauses to establish cover 
for their BI losses, provided that there was at least 
one occurrence of COVID-19 within the specified 
geographical area at the relevant time. Additionally, 
policyholders will also be able to invoke the prevention 
of access clauses and hybrid clauses where they were 
unable to use the premises for a discrete business 
activity or a discrete part of the premises for its 
business activities. To establish that the BI loss was 
proximately caused, it is sufficient to prove that the 
interruption was a result of action by the government 
taken in response to cases of COVID-19. 

Finally, insurers cannot invoke trends clauses to 
reduce the indemnity payable to policyholders on 
the basis of the wider consequences of the COVID-19 
pandemic. Trend clauses quantify BI losses and allow 
for the adjustment of losses, factoring in trends or 
circumstances that may have impacted the financial 
results of the business, in order to approximate 
the financial results that would have occurred 
notwithstanding the occurrence of the insured peril. 
The Supreme Court concluded that all “consequences 
of the Covid-19 pandemic” are related to the insured 
peril in this context, and therefore fall outside the 
scope of the trends clauses. 

Financial Conduct Authority v Arch Insurance (UK) Ltd 
and others, UKSC 1 (January 15, 2021). 



4    |   2021 First Quarter Overview

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

BANKING 
No Duty by Banks to Pay Agent Fees For PPP Loans 

A California federal judge dismissed a putative class 
action brought by M&M Consulting Group, LLC (M&M) 
against Chase and First Republic Bank for their purported 
failure to pay fees to agents who assisted small businesses 
in acquiring federal loans under the Paycheck Protection 
Program (PPP). 

Plaintif M&M is a consulting company that aided borrowers 
in applying for federally guaranteed loans through the 
PPP. M&M provided assistance to borrowers wishing to 
take part in the PPP and served as borrowers’ agent for 
certain transactions. M&M alleged that J.P. Morgan and 
the other defendants failed to pay it mandatory Agent 
Fees pursuant to CARES Act and other SBA Regulations. 

The Court found that absent an agreement between the 
agent and lender pursuant to the traditional SBA Section 
7(a) guidelines, lenders are not required to pay agent 
fees under the text of the CARES Act or its implementing 
regulations. In so ruling, the court found that under 
longstanding SBA regulations, agents were only entitled 
to receive fees for their work in connection with securing a 
loan when they frst executed a compensation agreement. 

Additionally, the PPP’s only mention of agent fees provides 
that “[a]n agent that assists an eligible recipient to prepare 
an application for a covered loan may not collect a fee 
in excess of the limits established by the Administrator.” 
15 U.S.C. § 636(a)(36)(P)(ii). The Court agreed with J.P. 
Morgan’s argument that the choice of language in the 
CARES Act – the word choice of“may” as opposed to “shall” 
or “must” – indicates that payment of such agent fees is 
not compulsory. The court stated that the language does 
not create an independent entitlement for agent fees; 
rather, it simply imposes a limit on the amount of fees an 
agent is permitted to collect in the event of an agreement 
for agent fees. Further, the court noted that nothing in 
the statutory language of the CARES Act “suggests that 
Congress intended to create an implied private right of 
action.” Since the court found that M&M was not entitled 
to agent fees absent a compensation agreement, its 
companion claims for unjust enrichment and conversion 
also failed. The court ruled in favor of defendants and 
dismissed the complaint. 

M&M Consulting Group, LLC v. JP Morgan Bank, N,A. et al, 
Case No. 8:20-CV-01318 (C.D. Cal 2021) 



5 2021 First Quarter Overview   |   

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 BANKING 
Bank Not Automatically Entitled to Return of Mistakenly Wired Funds If They 
Discharge a Valid Debt 

On August 11, 2020, Citibank N.A., acting in its capacity as 
Administrative Agent for a syndicated term loan taken out 
by Revlon, Inc., intended to wire approximately $7.8 million 
in interest payments to Revlon’s lenders. Due to human 
error, Citibank wound up wiring $894 million of its own 
money, that amount equaling the principal that Revlon 
owed to its lenders. 

On August 12, 2020, Citibank began sending recall notices 
to the recipients to recover the monies. When those eforts 
proved unsuccessful, Citibank began fling lawsuits in the 
USDC Southern District of NY on August 17, 2020 alleging 
unjust enrichment, conversion, money had and received, 
and payment by mistake. The court issued temporary 
restraining orders in connection with each of the lawsuits 
to prevent the lenders from “removing, withdrawing, 
transferring, assigning, or otherwise disposing of” the 
portion of the wired funds its afliated entities had received. 

The court heard arguments from Citibank and both sides in 
December, 2020, and on February 16, 2021 ruled in favor of 
the lenders. The court ruled that in New York, while a failure 
to return money that is wired by mistake could be unjust 
enrichment or conversion requiring that the recipient 
return such money to its sender, there is an exception: the 

recipient is allowed to keep the funds if they discharge a 
valid debt, the recipient made no misrepresentations to 
induce the payment, and the recipient did not have notice 
of the mistake. The lenders asserted a “discharge for value” 
defense, which the court accepted. As such, the lenders are 
entitled to keep the money, for now. The TROs remain in 
place pending the court’s review of their impact. 

The mistakes that lead to this tremendous loss were the 
result of human error. Employees of Citibank were unaware 
of what “boxes had to be checked” to keep the $894 million 
at the bank in an appropriate “wash” account. Had the 
employee checked two more boxes, this would not have 
occurred. Further, one of the “are you sure?!” warnings an 
employee received in connection with the money transfer 
did not indicate that the $894 million would be leaving the 
bank. 

There are many stories of small mistakes resulting in 
disaster and signifcant loss, and this appears to be an 
instance where simple, clear training would have avoided 
this outcome. 

Citibank August 11, 2020 Wire Transfers, Case No. 20-06539 
(S.D.N.Y. 2020) 



6    |   2021 First Quarter Overview

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

GENERAL PARTNERSHIP LIABILITY 
Duties of Partners are to the Partnership, Review of Investors Interests in Assessing a 
Transaction Not Necessary 

Investors in Regency Energy Partners (Regency) 
filed suit against the partnership in connection with 
the acquisition of the company by Energy Transfer 
Partners, alleging the agreement undersold Regency 
by $1.6 billion in the $10.1 billion deal. 

The investors alleged the Regency partners who 
agreed to the deal acted in bad faith. The Delaware 
Chancery Court dismissed the action – for a second 
time – basing the decision, in part, on a “fair and 
reasonable standard” that the court described as 
“something similar, if not equivalent to, entire fairness 
review,” requiring assessments of both fair dealing and 
fair price. The court ultimately found that, while there 
were issues with the process of the sale, the Regency 
partners met their burden that the merger was fair and 
reasonable to the partnership. 

The chancellor noted that the dispute involved a 
limited partnership agreement in which the duties 
of a general partner to a partnership and limited 

partners are “entirely contractual in nature,” rather than 
fiduciary. As such, upon determining the deal was fair 
and reasonable as regards the partnership, there was 
no required or additional review as to whether it was 
in the best interests of the investors. 

Dieckman v. Regency GP LP et al., Case No. 11130-CB 
(Del. Ch. 2021) 
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SPAC LITIGATION FILING 
Special Purpose Acquisition Company Accused of Failure to Disclose Due Diligence 
Issues to Investors 

Investors brought a putative class action against a 
Special Purpose Acquisition Company (SPAC) which 
merged (and effectively acquired) a clinical-stage bio 
pharmaceutical company called Immunovant. The class 
essentially seeks to include investors who purchased 
or otherwise acquired Immunovant securities between 
October 2, 2019 and February 1, 2021. 

Notably, the plaintiffs, represented by the Pomerantz 
law firm in New York, allege that the SPAC made false 
and misleading statements by failing to disclose 
inadequate due diligence on the acquired company, 
Immunovant, including the clinical and commercial 
viability of the products that Immunovant was 
developing. As a result of subsequent disclosures, on 
February 2, 2021, the stock price for Immunovant fell 
over 42%. 
The plaintiffs brought the suit alleging violations of 

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange act and Rule 
10b-5 promulgated thereunder as well as under 20(a) 
of the Exchange Act for liability by the controlling 
persons of Immunovant. 

Pitman v. Immunovant, Inc., et al., Case No. 21-CV-00918 
(E.D.N.Y. 2021) 

SPAC LITIGATION FILING 
Special Purpose Acquisition Company Accused of Rushing to Complete a Business 
Combination That Negatively Impacted Investors 

Investors, through the prolific securities class action 
plaintiff ’s firm Robbins Gellar, brought a securities 
class action against MultiPlan Corp. f/k/a Churchill 
Capital Corp. III (“Churchill III” or the “Company”) 
for misrepresentations under Section 10(b) of the 
Securities Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated 
thereunder as well as for control person liability under 
Section 20(a). Additionally, the suit also alleges liability 
under Section 14(a) of the exchange act for false or 
misleading statements in the proxy statement. 

Importantly, the allegations for violation of section 
14(a) describe statements made that resulted in 
financial incentives for the SPAC sponsor to rush to 
complete an acquisition within a particular time frame 
as well as lucrative redemption rights that arguably 
induced investors to keep their investments. 

“As a result,” reads the complaint, “the [SPAC Sponsor] 
Defendants and the Churchill Individual Defendants 
were highly incentive to complete an initial business 
combination and to convince shareholders to approve 
the Merger.” 

Srock v. Multiplan Corporation f/k/a Churchill Capital 
Corp. III, et. Al, Case No. 21-CV-1640 (S.D. N.Y 2021) 
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EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES 
J Court Upholds Arbitration Clause as Enforceable in Connection With Employment-
related Claim 

An employee at Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC 
(Morgan Stanley) fled a lawsuit against the company 
and her former supervisor alleging sexual harassment 
and retaliation. Morgan Stanley fled a motion to compel 
arbitration of the matter based on a company program 
designed to direct such matters to arbitration and such 
invitation to arbitrate was sent directly to the employee 
via e-mail. The trial court granted Morgan Stanley’s 
motion, and a two-judge appellate panel in New Jersey 
upheld the lower court’s ruling. 

The courts ruled the e-mail gave the claimant the 
opportunity to opt out of the arbitration program or 
consent to it by continuing to work for the company. The 
appellate panel commented that the arbitration was 
not unilaterally imposed because it gave the employee 
the choice to consent to arbitration or opt out. The 
court ruled that the company did not have to prove the 

claimant read the e-mail, but only that she received the 
e-mail. 

What makes this decision stand out is that she did 
not even have to sign or otherwise acknowledge a 
specifc written clause in her employment contract. The 
mandatory arbitration provisions were sent out via an 
e-mail to the claimant, and she had the opportunity 
to explicitly opt out of the program, or if she did not 
respond and continued her employment with the 
Morgan Stanley, she would be bound by the provisions 
under Morgan Stanley arbitration program. As it turns 
out, the court ruled she did not even have to confrm 
she read and/or agreed to the provision. 

Jasicki v. Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC et al., Case No. 
A-1629-19T1 (Sup.App Ct. NJ 2021) 

EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES 
Ninth Circuit Upholds CA Provisions that Bag Checks do not Need to Meet “Intrinsic 
Element” of Employment Standard For Compensable Time Calculation 

A class action lawsuit was fled by retail store employees 
of Apple (Amanda Frlekin et al v. Apple Inc.) claiming 
the company should have paid them for time spent 
getting their bags checked after they clocked out. 
Apple’s defense was that there would be no bag check 
for employees who did not bring bags or their own 
Apple products to work. The trial judge ruled in favor of 
Apple based on that argument. 

The Ninth Circuit reversed the trial judge’s decision, and 
ruled that if the employees were required to remain on 
the premises, they were entitled to be compensated 
for such. After that ruling and remand to the trial court, 
the judge granted a summary judgment fled by the 
employee class, ruling Apple was liable. The case is 
now moving to the damages stage, where individual 
employees will fll out claim forms on an individual basis. 

The US Supreme Court previously ruled warehouse 
employee security screenings or “bag checks” are 

not compensable, even if for the employer’s beneft, 
because such screenings were not an “intrinsic element” 
of their employment. California wage and hour law does 
not follow the “intrinsic element” standard, and the 
Ninth Circuit ruling appears to expand upon what can 
be considered compensable time while of-the-clock. 

Employers in CA should be mindful on this decision and 
review their security screening protocols as to whether 
or not they could be considered compensable. While 
a de minimis time defense may be put forth by the 
employers, the burden would be on them to establish 
such. While there is no bright-line rule as to how much 
time is or is not de minimis, many courts have held that 
less than ten minutes of working time is de minimis. 

Frlekin v. Apple, Inc., Case No. 15-17832 (9th Cir 2020) 
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PRIVACY 
11th Circuit Confrms that an Increased Risk of Future Harm Faced by Data Breach 
Victims is Insufcient to Meet Standing Requirement 

On February 4, 2021, following a security breach that 
exposed his credit card information, restaurant owner 
Tan Tsao fled a lawsuit on behalf of a presumed class 
of customers of PQD, a group of American fast dining 
restaurants owned by Captiva MVP Restaurant Partners. 

Immediately following the breach, the Plaintif promptly 
canceled his credit cards although there was no immediate 
evidence that his credit card number had been stolen or 
illegally used. Tsao sued the restaurant on behalf of a class 
of customers, claiming “negligence and deceptive and 
unfair conduct” under Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade 
Practices Statute. 

In his appeal, Tsao solicited damages in the form of the loss 
of the use of his credit card, his credit card reward points, 
and the time and costs associated with canceling his card 
and protecting himself against future identity theft. 

The question before the court was whether a risk of 
future harm and time spent replacing a payment card are 
enough to establish standing under Article III. The court 
frst noted a strong split between the circuits on this issue, 
but ultimately decided that a risk of future harm and the 
other steps the plaintif had taken were not sufcient 
to meet standing requirements. The court based its 
decision on a line of cases holding that a plaintif cannot 
manufacture his own damages and in order to confer 
standing, the putative damage must either be certainly 
imminent or there must be a solid risk of such damage 
occurring. The court implored the U.S. Supreme Court 
to weigh in on what constitutes sufcient harm to meet 
Article III standing in data breach cases. 

Tsao v. Captiva, Case No. No. 18-14959 (11th Cir. 2021 ) 

PRIVACY 
Zoom Partially Freed from Putative Class Action Due to Plaintifs’ Failure to Show 
Illegal Sharing of Information 

On March 12, 2021, Northern District of California Judge 
Lucy H. Koh partially freed Zoom from a consolidated 
putative class action alleging a range of privacy and data 
security missteps, ruling that the plaintifs had failed to 
show that Zoom had illegally shared their personal data 
and that the company was largely immune from claims 
over “Zoombombing” disruptions. 

The Plaintifs, eleven individuals and two churches 
that have used Zoom, accused the video conferencing 
provider of unlawfully sharing their personal data with 
unauthorized third parties such as Facebook and LinkedIn, 
failing to prevent malicious meeting disruptions known as 
“Zoombombings” and misrepresenting the strength of its 
encryption protocols. 

The Plaintifs brought claims for contractual breaches 
and unfair business practices as well as various claims 
associated with Zoom’s purported unauthorized data 
sharing,alleged negligence, consumer violations and anti-
hacking laws. Judge Koh allowed some contract-based 
claims to proceed while dismissing the other allegations. 
Zoom asserted that Section 230 of the Communications 

Decency Act (which grants a broad liability shield to tech 
companies for content posted on their platforms by users 
and other third parties), barred plaintifs’ claims to the 
extent they were based on “Zoombombings” orchestrated 
by third parties, as the statute immunizes interactive 
service providers like Zoom from such allegations. 

Judge Koh agreed with Zoom’s assertions but stated 
“Appalling as this content is, Zoom’s failure ‘to edit or block 
user-generated content’ is ‘the very activity Congress 
sought to immunize,’” Judge Koh ruled. “The bulk of Plaintifs’ 
Zoombombing claims lie against the ‘Zoombombers’ who 
shared heinous content, not Zoom itself. Zoom merely 
‘provide[ed] neutral tools for navigating’ its service.” 

Finally, the judge said the plaintifs failed to prove that 
Zoom shared or sold their data without permission, and at 
best alleged that the San Jose-based company “disclosed 
certain other people’s data, not necessarily Plaintifs’ data.” 

Zoom Video Communications, Inc. Privacy Litigation, Case 
No.20-cv-02155 (N.D. Cal 2021) 
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PRIVACY 
Illinois Supreme Court has Agreed to Address the Question of Whether the State’s 
Workers’ Compensation Law Preempts BIPA Cases that Relate to Privacy Harms 
Sufered at Work 

A recent Illinois Appellate Court opinion in McDonald v. 
Symphony Bronzeville Park LLC struck down a key defense 
pursued by employers facing lawsuits for violation of the 
Illinois Biometric Information Privacy Act (BIPA). In recent 
years, employers using fngerprint-based time clocks and 
other technology capturing an employee’s biometric 
information have become a major target of class action 
lawsuits alleging violations of BIPA. One of the primary 
defenses raised by employers has historically been that 
BIPA is preempted by the Illinois Workers’ Compensation 
Act. In this case it was rejected. 

The court’s reasoning relied heavily on the Illinois Supreme 
Court’s opinion in Rosenbach v. Six Flags Entertainment 
Corp., 2019 IL 123186, in which the state Supreme Court 
held that an individual is entitled to damages for BIPA 
violations even if the individual does not sufer actual harm. 
The Appellate Court in McDonald found that because 
actual harm is not required for a statutory damages claim 
under BIPA, such a claim does not “[ft] within the purview 
of the Compensation Act, which is a remedial statute 
designed to provide fnancial protection for workers that 

have sustained an actual injury.” Specifcally, the court 
ruled that the exclusivity provisions of the Compensation 
Act do not bar a claim for statutory damages under BIPA. 
The court also noted that its decision was in line with 
federal courts and Illinois circuit courts that have generally 
considered the same issue. 

This development is signifcant as the outcome would 
have an enormous impact on most of the BIPA matters still 
pending in Illinois, which are based on the use of fnger 
scanning devices for timekeeping purposes. Thus far, every 
intermediate appellate court that has addressed the issue 
has held that the Illinois workers’ compensation law does 
NOT preempt these BIPA claims, and it appears unlikely 
that an Illinois Supreme Court, which previously ruled 
unanimously that plaintifs can bring BIPA claims without 
showing any separate harm, would take a path diferent 
from the intermediate appellate courts on the preemption 
issue going forward. 

McDonald v. Symphony Bronzeville Park, Case No. 2020 IL 
App (1st) 192398 (Il App 2021) 

PRIVACY 
Court Rejects the Application of Privilege to Reports Requested by Plaintif 
Following Law Firm Data Breach 

A law frm sufered a data breach that resulted in sensitive 
information about its clients being released on the internet. 

The plaintif (a former client) sued the defendant/Clark Hill 
and requested, in discovery, a copy of materials relating 
to the work performed by a forensic investigation the 
defendant hired following the breach. The defendant 
attempted to assert work product doctrine protection and 
attorney-client privilege over the forensic frm’s work. The 
court rejected the application of privilege/work product to 
the materials for a number of reasons, primarily that the 
investigation was performed mainly for business reasons, 
not for the purpose of giving legal advice. 

Specifcally, the law frm argued that certain materials were 
protected from discovery because it had initiated a “two 

track” investigation into the breach, in which one track 
was a non-privileged investigation into the breach and 
the other track was an investigation for legal purposes and 
that materials prepared on the legal track were protected 
from discovery. The court disagreed, noting that Clark Hill 
failed to show that it had actually conducted a two track 
investigation. The court also found that the conditions 
of the case showed Clark Hill had made indistinct the 
non-privileged business track and the legal track in ways 
meaningful to its privilege determination. 

The decision demonstrates a further shift by some courts 
to treat work product and privilege assertions over forensic 
investigation materials with skepticism. 

Wengui v. Clark Hill, Case No 19-cv-03195 (D. D.C. 2021). 
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COVERAGE 
Delaware Supreme Court Rules that Delaware Has Interest in Protecting its 
“Corporate Citizenry” and that D&O Policy Covered Allegations of Fraud 

Dole Food Company and its CEO, David Murdock, sought 
coverage from its eighth-level excess insurer RSUI to help 
cover $222 million in settlements they reached to resolve 
two stockholder suits over Dole’s allegedly fraudulent 2013 
take-private deal. In 2013, Murdock owned 40% of Dole 
stock and acquired the remaining stock before selling the 
company into private ownership for $1.6 billion. Various 
stockholders sued in Delaware Chancery Court in 2013 
challenging the transaction. 

After a nine-day trial, Vice Chancellor Travis Laster in 
August 2015 found that Murdock and Michael Carter, 
Dole’s COO and General Counsel, had “engaged in fraud” 
to bring down the share prices before they purchased the 
remaining stock. The court found them jointly and severally 
liable for fraud and misrepresentations about the deal and 
found damages in excess of $148 million. Murdock and 
Dole settled this action for $113.5 million. 

A second securities class action was fled in Delaware 
federal court in December 2015, alleging that Dole and 
Murdoch misled investors and cited extensively from 
Judge Laster’s opinion. The parties eventually settled for 
$74 million. 

In January 2016, several excess insurers fled a coverage 
suit against Dole and Murdock in Delaware. All insurers 
except RSUI eventually settled with Dole. Dole’s policy 
with RSUI contained an exclusion for deliberate fraudulent 
conduct, although it extended only to claims of fraud that 
are established in a “fnal, non-appealable adjudication 
adverse to such Insured in the underlying action.” Dole 
and Murdock argued that this requirement was not met 
because they settled each of the stockholder suits before 
entry of fnal judgment and there was no fnding of fraud 
in the underlying action. 

The Delaware Supreme Court issued a ruling March 3, 2021 
fnding in favor of Dole on several grounds. First, the Court 
found that Delaware law applied as Dole was incorporated 
in Delaware and Delaware had an interest in protecting 
its “corporate citizenry.” This fnding came despite the fact 
that Dole was headquartered in California. This ruling was 
critical as in Delaware claims based on fraud are insurable 
but they are not in California. 

Based on that ruling, the Court next turned to whether 
the fraud exclusion was triggered. The Court found that 
the RSUI fraud exclusion did not bar coverage as there 
was no fnding of fraud in “the underlying action.” Rather, 
the second suit – although based on the fraud fndings by 
Judge Laster – was settled for $74 million and as such the 
fnal judgment requirement was not met. 

Finally, the Court held that despite “relative exposures” 
language in the RSUI allocation provision, the larger 
settlement theory applied to the allocation provision. 
Under “relative exposure” theory of allocation, insurers 
attempt to allocate payment of defense costs and 
settlement between covered and non-covered amounts, 
based on the “relative exposure” of the defendants to the 
covered and non-covered claims.  In comparison, under 
the larger settlement theory of allocation, allocation only 
applies when the wrongful acts drive the defense and 
settlement costs of the litigation higher than they would 
have been if only the insured parties/actions had been 
defended or settled. The Court found that despite the 
use of “relative exposure” language in the RSU policy, the 
allocation provision in the RSUI policy only addressed 
when the parties use their best eforts to agree on a fair 
allocation. However, the provision did not expressly dictate 
the terms if the parties cannot agree and thus the larger 
settlement theory of allocation applied. 

RSUI Indemnity Co. v. David H. Murdock and Dole Food 
Company, Case No. 154, 2020 (Del S. Ct. 2021) 



12    |   2021 First Quarter Overview

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

COVERAGE 
Private Equity Firms Aforded Law Most Favorable and As Such Claims for 
Restitution and Disgorgement Covered Under Policies 

A Delaware court found that the uninsurability defense – 
prohibiting coverage for the disgorgement or restitution 
of ill-gotten gains – was not enforceable under a policy 
issued to Delaware-organized policyholders that also 
contained “law most favorable” language. 

Three Delaware-organized private equity frms were sued 
by a company’s bankruptcy estate, alleging that their 
investment funds and managers acquired the company, 
raided its high-performing assets, and left the remainder of 
the company as an overly leveraged shell. The bankruptcy 
estate asserted claims for fraudulent conveyance, breach of 
fduciary duty and related business torts. The frms settled 
those claims for $120 million and sought coverage from 
its D&O and E&O insurers. The insurers declined coverage 
under the uninsurability defense. 

The frms moved for judgment on the pleadings on the 
uninsurability defense, asserting that Delaware law applies 
and Delaware does not have a public policy insuring 
against restitution or disgorgement. The insurers argued 
that New York law applies and New York does have such 
a public policy against insuring restitution. The insurers 
contended that the funds settlement was uninsurable as 
a matter of public policy as it represents the disgorgement 
of, or restitution of, ill-gotten gains. 

The court found that the analysis hinged on a confict of 
law analysis and that under the policies, the parties agreed 
that the “law most favorable” to the insured would apply 
to coverage disputes in which the insurers challenged a 
loss as uninsurable. The court found that had the insurers 
wished to avoid exposure to settlements like the one at 
issue, they could have drafted the policies in another way. 
However, they did not and as such Delaware law applies as 
it was most favorable to the frms. The court stated that the 
Delaware legislature has not enacted a statute forbidding 
insurance for restitution or disgorgement and, as such, the 
uninsurabilty defense was denied as a matter of Delaware 
law. 

The court found that despite the fact that the frms were 
headquartered in New York, the policies were issued and 
brokered in New York and the underlying misconduct and 
resulting litigation occurred in New York, the policies at 
issue were fduciary liability insurance contracts written to 
cover Delaware entities. The court stated that Delaware has 
a “superseding interest in the merits of disputes involving 
insurance coverage for fduciary mismanagement of 
Delaware organizations.” 

Sycamore Partners Mgmt., L.P. v. Endurance Am. Ins. Co., 2021 
WL 761639 (Del. Super. Ct. 2021). 

COVERAGE 
Commercial Crime Policy Does Not Cover Losses that Are Not “Direct” to the Insured 
Under The Policy 

A Texas Federal Judge ruled that neither National Union 
(AIG) nor Beazley were required to provide coverage for a 
“phishing” scheme loss sufered by a plaintif/policyholder, 
RealPage in 2018 because there was no “direct” loss as 
required by the policy. 

In particular, the court noted that the phishing losses were 
not “direct” as required by the policy since the funds that 
were stolen were held by a third party payment processor 
at the time they were stolen. RealPage – a real estate 
software provider –reimbursed clients after it allowed 
funds to be transferred from third party accounts held at 
Wells Fargo. 

Ultimately, the judge held that the RealPage was not 
holding the funds (required to be considered “direct loss”) 
but rather had credentials to direct the funding through 
the Wells Fargo accounts. 

RealPage, Inc. v. National Union Fire Insurance Co. Of 
Pittsburg, PA, et al., Case No. 19-cv-01350 (N.D. Texas 2021) 
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